THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
In the Court of Common Pleas

Doyet A. Early, III, Presiding Judge

---

Case No. 2013-001909

---

William R. Ferrara ..... Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

Michael E. Hunt, Sheriff of Aiken County; Aiken County Sheriff's Department;  
Charles Cain in his individual capacity as Deputy Sheriff;  
and Aiken County Sheriff's Department ..... Defendants/Respondents.

Of whom Charles Cain in his individual capacity as Deputy Sheriff is the Respondent.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

**RECEIVED**

OCT 21 2013

S. Jahue Moore, Esquire  
John C. Bradley, Jr., Esquire  
M. Brooks Biediger

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- A. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT CAIN AND THE AIKEN COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT SUMMARY JUDGEMENT AS TO APPELLANTS CLAIM FOR MALICIOUS PROSECUTION ON THE GROUNDS OF RES JUDICATA/COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL?
  
- B. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT CAIN AND THE AIKEN COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT SUMMARY JUDGEMENT AS TO APPELLANT'S CLAIMS FOR MALICIOUS PROSECUTION ON THE GROUNDS THAT APPELLANT FAILED TO PROVE LACK OF PROBABLE CAUSE AS A MATTER OF LAW?
  
- B. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN RULING THAT RESPONDENT CAIN WAS PROTECTED FROM LIABILITY BY THE SOUTH CAROLINA TORT CLAIMS ACT?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an Order of the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Presiding Judge of the Second (2<sup>nd</sup>) Judicial Circuit dated May 16, 2003. Appellant's counsel did not receive written notice of the Order until August 20, 2013. Judge Early's Order granted Respondent Charles Cain in his individual capacity as Deputy Sheriff and the Aiken County Sheriff's Department ("Respondents") Summary Judgment as to Appellant's causes of action for Malicious Prosecution. (Order of Doyet A. Early, III; R. \_\_\_\_\_).

Appellant commenced this action *Pro Se* against Michael E. Hunt, Sheriff of Aiken County and Respondents Cain and the Aiken County Sheriff's Department in the Aiken County Court of Common Pleas. Appellant's Complaint sought actual and punitive damages. (Complaint; R. \_\_\_\_\_) (Appellant's Complaint was subsequently amended) (Amended Complaint; R. \_\_\_\_\_). Sheriff Hunt and Respondent Cain and the Aiken County Sheriff's Department filed their Answers and subsequently removed this case to the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina, on or about August 10, 2009 (Answer and Notice of Removal of Respondents; R. \_\_\_\_\_). Subsequently the parties entered into written and deposition discovery.

Sheriff Hunt and Respondents moved for Summary Judgment in the Federal Court case. (Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment; R. \_\_\_\_\_). This matter was subsequently referred to the United States Magistrate, who issued her Report and Recommendations on March 19, 2012, recommending that the Court grant in part and deny in part Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and that the remaining State Law causes of action be set for a trial before a jury as demanded by Appellant. (Report and Recommendation dated March 19, 2012; R. \_\_\_\_\_) After hearing argument of counsel, Judge Gergel issued his Order on or about March 28, 2012

granting Summary Judgment as to certain causes of action and with consent of the Parties, remanded the remaining State Law Causes of Action back to State Court (Order of the Honorable Richard Gergel, dated March 28, 2012; R. \_\_\_\_).

Sherriff Hunt and Respondents herein subsequently moved for Summary Judgment as to all remaining State Court Causes of Action. (Motions for Summary Judgment; R. \_\_\_\_). Judge Early heard oral arguments. (Transcript of Hearing; R. \_\_\_\_). Judge Early entered his Order granting Sheriff Hunt Summary Judgment on or about April 3, 2013. (Order of Judge Early dated April 3, 2013; R. \_\_\_\_). Appellant timely appealed that Order. (Notice of Appeal dated \_\_\_\_; R. \_\_\_\_). Judge Early entered a subsequent Order granting Summary Judgment to Respondents Cain and the Sheriff's Department on or about May 16, 2013. However, Appellant's counsel was never furnished with a copy of the actual Order entered by Judge Early and did not receive notice of the actual Order until August 20, 2013. This appeal followed.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

The Plaintiff, William Ferrara, is a citizen and resident of the County of Aiken, State of South Carolina. He is a graduate of the United States Military Academy, West Point, New York and an honorably discharged decorated officer and veteran of the United States Army (Deposition of William R. Ferrara, Page 23, Lines 21-23; R. \_\_\_\_). He does not have a criminal record. He is a post graduate from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (M.I.T.), and worked at the Savannah River Site as a nuclear engineer employed by the prime contractor for the United States Department of Energy (USDOE). (Complaint; R. \_\_\_\_)(Deposition of William R. Ferrara; Pages 11-13: R. \_\_\_\_)(Deposition of Williams R. Ferrara, Page 17, Lines 21 – Page 18, Line 14: R. \_\_\_\_). Appellant has served on numerous volunteer community service boards, committee and organizations in Aiken County to including, but not limited to; Aiken County Council, Aiken County Council Public Safety

and Judicial Committee, Aiken County United Way (Budget & Evaluation Review Board), South Carolina Boys State, Aiken Sunrise Rotary Club, Aiken Tax Review Board, CSRA Science & Engineering Fair Director and Chairman, CSRA Engineering College Night 1<sup>st</sup> Year Chairman, Boy Scout Unit Commissioner (Unit Commissioner of the Year), Aiken Toastmasters, Leadership Aiken County and SRP Credit Union Board of Directors. He is a former candidate for both the Aiken County School Board and South Carolina House of Representatives. (Complaint; R. \_\_\_\_); Deposition of William R. Ferrara; Pages 24-37; R. \_\_\_\_).

Appellant owns Whiskey South, Inc., a South Carolina Corporation in the business of leasing residential real estate. (Complaint; R. \_\_\_\_); (Deposition of William R. Ferrara, Page 51, Line 17 – Page 52, Line 1; R. \_\_\_\_). Through Whiskey South, Appellant manages numerous properties in the Aiken area which are leased by residential tenants. (Complaint; R. \_\_\_\_)(Deposition of William R. Ferrara, Page 50, Line 25 – Page 51, Line 9; R. \_\_\_\_). One of these properties owned by Whiskey South was a 12 unit apartment complex on Banks Mill Road in Aiken. (Complaint, R. \_\_\_\_); (Deposition of William R. Ferrara, Page 50, Lines 4-8: R. \_\_\_\_).

On or about April 17, 2006 an individual named Kari Driggers moved into apartment 2860-B Banks Mill Road and signed a lease with Appellant. Less than a month later Ms. Driggers summoned Aiken County Law Enforcement because of a domestic dispute involving her and another individual named Chad Black, a registered sexual offender. Aiken County Law Enforcement also responded to domestic violence calls made by Ms. Driggers (and directed against Mr. Black) on May 31, 2006 and June 3, 2006. On June 20, 2006 Aiken County Law Enforcement personnel responded to a call alleging Mr. Black was disturbing three other female residents of Appellant's apartment facility. At the instruction of law enforcement, Appellant obtained a trespassing notice against Mr. Black on June 22, 2006 and instituted eviction proceedings against Mr. Driggers on June 23, 2006. The following day

Mr. Black was arrested for breaking into the apartment of a female resident of Appellant's property (he subsequently received a twelve (12) year sentence after being convicted for burglary arising out of this incident). (Complaint; R. \_\_\_\_\_) (Attachments to Affidavits of William R. Ferrara; R. \_\_\_\_\_).

On June 28, 2006 Ms. Driggers was personally served with a Court notice of an eviction hearing scheduled for July 18, 2006. On July 12, 2006, six days prior to her scheduled eviction action, Aiken County Sheriff's Deputy Stuart Johnson once again responded to 2860-B Banks Mill Road and took a complaint from Kari Driggers; however, this time against the Appellant for alleged incidents that occurred sometime during the course of more than three months (from April 1, 2006 to July 12, 2006) (Exhibit 2 to Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment dated February 3, 2012; R. \_\_\_\_\_) (Complaint; R. \_\_\_\_\_). Deputy Johnson did not observe any marks, injuries, cuts, or bruises on Ms. Driggers and did not advise her to seek any medical attention whatsoever (Complaint; R. \_\_\_\_\_) In addition, he did not receive any information whatsoever from her associated with anyone attempting to or intending to inflict serious bodily injury upon her body. He stated to Appellant and/or his two painters that he could not understand anything she was saying only that she was upset because she was being evicted. The incident report is 06-037313 (Complaint; R. \_\_\_\_\_) (Exhibit 2 to Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment dated February 3, 2012; R. \_\_\_\_\_). Deputy Johnson made a report to his superiors and took no further action.

The following day, another deputy in the Aiken County Sherriff's Department, Respondent Charles Cain was assigned to the case as lead investigator. He contacted Ms. Driggers regarding these allegations that same day. (Deposition of Charles Cain Page 8, Lines 11-12, attached as Exhibit 3 to Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment dated February 3, 2012; R. \_\_\_\_\_). Respondent Cain presented Ms. Driggers who is hearing impaired with fourteen

(14) written questions regarding her charges against Appellant that he touched her and solicited sex from her. (Exhibit 4 to Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment dated February 3, 2012; R. \_\_\_\_). This "statement" was written by Respondent. (Exhibit 3 to Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment; R. \_\_\_\_; Cain Deposition, Page 8, Lines 11-12; R. \_\_\_\_). Ms. Driggers signed this document as an unsworn voluntary statement. Respondent Cain did not observe any marks, injuries, cuts or bruises on the body of Ms. Driggers nor did he advise her to seek any medical attention whatsoever (Compliant; R. \_\_\_\_)

Respondent Cain returned later that day with additional handwritten questions for Ms. Driggers. The second statement included allegations similar to the original statement but added a claim that Appellant showed Ms. Driggers pictures of his penis on a cell phone. Ms. Driggers signed this unsworn document which again, had been prepared by Respondent Cain. (Exhibit 5 to Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment dated February 3, 2012 ("Memorandum in Opposition"); R. \_\_\_\_). Again he did not observe any marks, injuries, cuts or bruises on her body and once again he did not advise her to seek medical attention.

On the same day, Respondent Cain took a statement from Ms. Driggers' boyfriend, Billy Cook. (Exhibit 6 to the Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment dated February 3, 2012; R. \_\_\_\_). The two sentence statement simply claims the Appellant was "looking for" Ms. Driggers at some point. Respondent Cain admitted in his discovery deposition that Mr. Cook's statement failed to corroborate anything Ms. Driggers alleged and fails to corroborate the allegation that any crime actually occurred. (Cain Deposition, Page 9, Lines 14; 16; R.\_\_\_\_) (Cain Deposition Page 16, Lines 12-14; R. \_\_\_\_)(Cain Deposition Page 51, Line 14; Page 55; Line 12; R. \_\_\_\_).

That same afternoon Respondent Cain appeared before Magistrate Patrick Dorn Sullivan for the purpose of obtaining arrest and search warrants against Appellant. In the process of obtaining these warrants, Deputy Cain misled and withheld pertinent information from the Court as to the facts and circumstances regarding the ongoing eviction notice against Ms. Driggers. (Complaint; R. \_\_\_\_).

In all, Respondent Cain gathered three written statements regarding the allegations against Appellant. Two of these statements came from the alleged victim who was in the process of being evicted by Appellant. The third statement reveals essentially nothing of any relevance and has no substantive corroborative value to anything, much less evidence of a crim. Despite the incredibly serious nature of these allegations, Respondent Cain's "investigation" lasted less than three hours.

Aside from the three written statements taken by Respondent Cain, no other investigation was made regarding Ms. Driggers' allegations whatsoever. (Cain Deposition Page 10, Line 14; R. \_\_\_\_)(Cain Deposition Page 14, Line 23; R. \_\_\_\_)(Cain Deposition Page 16, Line 12; R. \_\_\_\_)(Cain Deposition Page 51, Line 14; R. \_\_\_\_)(Cain Deposition Page 55, Line 12; R. \_\_\_\_). Respondent Cain did not speak to anyone who had any corroborating evidence with respect to anything Ms. Driggers said in her statements (which were prepared by Respondent Cain). (Cain Deposition, Page 10, Lines 14-17; R. \_\_\_\_)(Cain Deposition Page 14, Line 23; R. \_\_\_\_)(Cain Deposition Page 16, Line 12; R. \_\_\_\_)(Cain Deposition Page 51, Line 14; R. \_\_\_\_)(Cain Deposition Page 55, Line 12; R. \_\_\_\_). Respondent Cain also admits that he had no evidence whatsoever that Ms. Driggers was truthful, honest or reliable in any way. (Cain Deposition Page 10, Lines 20-24; R. \_\_\_\_)(Cain Deposition Page 24, Lines 20-Page 25, Line 5; R. \_\_\_\_)(Cain Deposition Page 43, Lines 7-9; R. \_\_\_\_)(Cain Deposition Page 44; Lines 4-10; R. \_\_\_\_). Aside from these unsworn statements, Respondent Cain did no further investigation into Ms. Driggers' allegations against Appellant. (Cain Deposition Page 51, Lines 11-16; R. \_\_\_\_)(Complaint; R. \_\_\_\_).

On the afternoon of July 13, 2006, as the result of an investigation that lasted less than three hours Respondent Cain obtained five arrest warrants for the Appellant and a search warrant for his residence at 109 Fox Lea Trail, Aiken, South Carolina. (Exhibit 7 to Plaintiff's Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Summary Judgment dated February 3, 2012; R. \_\_\_\_). The arrest warrants were for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, indecent two counts of exposure, solicitation of prostitution and disseminating obscenities (Arrest Warrants, Exhibit 7 to Memorandum in Opposition; R. \_\_\_\_\_) (Complaint; R. \_\_\_\_\_).

Once the arrest warrants were issued, Respondent Cain contacted Appellant and told him to turn himself in. Appellant cooperated and turned himself into the police later that day. (Deposition of Charles Cain, Page 59, Lines 19-21; R. \_\_\_\_\_) (Complaint; R. \_\_\_\_\_).

Over the course of the next two years, all of the charges against Appellant were either dismissed or *nolle prossed*. (Exhibit N to Plaintiff's Response to Answer; R. \_\_\_\_). In the mean time, Appellant was confined to house arrest, was unable to manage his personal or business affairs, and was subject to public ridicule because of the false claims of sexual deviance. (Deposition of William R. Ferrara, Page 52, Lines 14 through Page 53, Line 15; Page 306, Lines 15-17; R. \_\_\_\_\_).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The Appellate Court's standard of review in evaluating a summary judgment motion is to liberally construe the record in favor of the nonmoving party and give the nonmoving party the benefit of all favorable inferences that might reasonably be drawn there from. *Lattie v. SHS Enterprises, Inc.*, 390 S.C. 417, 389 S.E.2d. 300 (Ct. App. 1990); *Gilmore v. Ivey*, 290 S.C.53, 348 S.E.2d. 180 (Ct. App. 1986). Summary Judgment is proper only when no issue exists as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c),

SCRCP. To determine whether any triable issues of fact exist, the reviewing court must consider the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Law v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 368 S.C. 424, 434, 629 S.E.2d 642, 648 (2006).

## ARGUMENT

### I. JUDGE EARLY REILED ON THE ORDER ISSUED BY FEDERAL JUDGE GERGEL, WHICH CONTAINS INCONSISTENCIES IN FINDINGS.

If a verdict contains inconsistent findings as to a controlling fact, no judgment can be entered. *Dunn v. United States*, 284 U.S. 390, 400, 52 S. Ct. 189, 193, 76 L. Ed. 356 (1932). “The verdict on a material point finds for each party, and against each party; being, in effect, equivalent to disagreement of the jury. The answer assumes to cut a single and indivisible truth in two. No judgment can rest on such a verdict, and no court should receive it.” *Id.* (internal citations omitted).

Judge Early found and ruled as a matter of law that Respondents were entitled to Summary Judgment based upon the fact that the question of probable cause was decided and ruled upon by Judge Gergel and that Appellant’s cause of action for malicious prosecution failed as a matter of law. (Order of Judge Early, p. 4). This ruling ignores the plain and clear language of Judge Gergel’s Order. The Federal Court made no ruling in regard to State Court claims for either Malicious Prosecution or Defamation. As stated by the Federal Court in its Order:

Plaintiff has further asserted state tort claims for malicious prosecution against Defendants Hunt and Cain (Second Cause of Action) and defamation against Defendant Hunt (Twentieth Cause of Action). . . . Prior to addressing these state law issues, the Court finds it necessary to resolve the question of whether the Court will exercise its supplemental jurisdiction once it has dismissed the pending federal claims. . . .

(Order of Judge Gergel, R. \_\_\_\_). Subsequent to Judge Gergel’s Order, all parties requested that the Court remand the case to state court should only state claims remain (Dkt. No. 160 at 3;

Dkt. No. 161, Defendant Hunt's Memorandum in Support of Remand at 2-3; R. \_\_\_\_). Sherriff Hunt, in particular, noted the presence of various unsettled state law issues that will necessarily arise under Appellant's South Carolina Tort Claims Act causes of action. (Dkt. No. 161, Defendant Hunt's Memorandum in Support of Remand at 2-3; R. \_\_\_\_). Judge Gergel's Order concluded:

Therefore, the Court denies to adopt that portion of the R & R which references any of the state causes of action and makes no ruling on Defendants' motions for summary judgment regarding the Plaintiff's Second and Twentieth Causes of Action. The Court hereby declines to exercise its supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C § 1367(c) (3) and remands the case to the Aiken County Court of Common Pleas.

(*District Court Order*, p. 9-10; R. \_\_\_\_).

The federal court did not rule on any state court issue. Rather, it remanded the state claims. *Carnegie-Mellon Univ. v. Cohill*, 484 U.S. 343, 357 (1988) (“[A] district court has discretion to remand to state court a removed case involving pendent claims upon a proper determination that retaining jurisdiction over the case would be inappropriate”). The federal order also states a finding inconsistent with the order of remand.

One of the elements of Mr. Ferrara's state claim of Malicious Prosecution is a want of probable cause. *Law v. S. Carolina Dept. of Corr.*, 368 S.C. 424, 435, 629 S.E.2d 642, 648 (2006). The order states that “Deputy Cain had probable cause for the arrest of Plaintiff.” The order also states that the “Magistrate Judge recommends granting summary judgment on the malicious prosecution claim,” due to the lack of probable cause. However, the federal court did not grant summary judgment on this claim. Instead, it remanded this claim to the state court, stating: “the Court declines to adopt that portion of the R & R which references any of the state

causes of action and *makes no ruling on Defendants' motions for summary judgment* regarding the Plaintiff's [state law] claims." *District Court Order*, p. 8-10 (emphasis added).

In one paragraph, Judge Gergel stated that there was no action for malicious prosecution because of sufficient probable cause. However, in a subsequent paragraph, he states that he makes *no ruling* on the state claims and remands them to state court. These statements are inconsistent, and therefore, should be resolved by a trial in the state court, as Judge Gergel clearly intended in his Order.

The Court erred in concluding as a matter of law that Judge Gergel's Order contained any finding with respect to Probable Cause and therefore should be reversed by this Court.

## **II. SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS INAPPROPRIATE IN THIS INSTANCE BECAUSE THERE IS A QUESTION OF FIRST IMPRESSION FOR THE COURT.**

This issue, concerning inconsistencies in a federal order and whether the principal of res judicata applies, is a question of first impression for the court. "As a general rule, important questions of novel impression should not be decided on a summary judgment . . . . Instead, a novel issue is best decided in light of the testimony to be adduced at trial." *Tyler v. Macks Stores of South Carolina, Inc.*, 275 S.C. 456, 272 S.E.2d 633 (1980). "In a case raising a novel question of law, the appellate court is free to decide the question with no particular deference to the lower court." *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 411, 526 S.E.2d 716, 719 (2000) (citing S.C. Const. art. V, §§ 5 and 9, S.C.Code Ann. § 14-3-320 and -330 (1976 & Supp. 2003), and S.C.Code Ann § 14-8-200 (Supp. 2003)); *Osprey, Inc. v. Cabana Ltd. Partnership*, 340 S.C. 367, 372, 532 S.E.2d 269, 272 (2000) (same); *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 378, 529 S.E.2d 528, 533 (2000) (same); *ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche*, 320 S.C. 143, 153, 463 S.E.2d 618, 624 (Ct.App.1995) (stating that although all issues of novel impression do

not require a trial, summary judgment is inappropriate where further inquiry into the facts is desirable to clarify application of the law).

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