THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas

Doyet A. Early, III, Presiding Judge

Case No. 2013-001909

William R. Ferrara Appellant,

v.

Michael E. Hunt, Sheriff of Aiken County; Aiken County Sheriff's Department; Charles Cain in his individual capacity as Deputy Sheriff; and Aiken County Sheriff's Department

Defendants,

Of whom Charles Cain in his individual capacity as Deputy Sheriff is the Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CAIN

Matthew B. Rosbrugh
MBR Law, LLC
Post Office Box 292290
Columbia South Carolina 29229
(803) 753-1432

Counsel for Respondent Cain

RECEIVED

NOV 12 2014

SC Court of Appeals

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

Where Plaintiff alleges a flaw in the warrant affidavit, he “must show that each officer ‘deliberately or with a reckless disregard for the truth made material false statements in his

affidavit or omitted from that affidavit material facts with the intent to make, or with reckless disregard of whether they thereby made the affidavit misleading.” *Matthews v. Thomas*, 09-1932 (4th Cir. 2010) (unpublished) quoting *Miller v. Prince George's County*, 475 F.3d 621, 627 (4th Cir. 2007). According to the *Miller* court, the term “[r]eckless disregard requires a showing that an officer, in light of all of the evidence, had ‘serious doubts as to the truth of his statements or had obvious reasons to doubt the accuracy of the information he reported.’” *Id.* Insofar as a Appellant alleges the omission of information from the warrant affidavit, he “must establish that the officer failed to inform the magistrate of facts that the officer *knew* would negate a finding of probable cause.” *Id.* Further, “the false statements or omissions must be material, that is, necessary to the neutral and disinterested magistrate's finding of probable cause.” *Id.* at 628.

Critically, the mere *nolle prosequi* by the solicitor does not infer or establish a want of probable cause. *White v. Coleman*, 277 F.Supp. 292, 299 (D.S.C.1967).

In this appeal, Appellant contends, just as he has done throughout the course of the criminal charges and this civil litigation, that the victim, Kari Driggers, was not a reliable **informant** and cites to *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 103 S.Ct. 2317 (1983), as authority to require corroborative evidence prior to an arrest. (emphasis added). R. pp. 26-28, 414. Appellant’s consistent use of this case as authority for his contention there is some requirement

of corroborative facts prior to the existence of probable cause is at the very least misguided.² A plain reading of the *Gates* case shows that it involves anonymous reporting of suspicious criminal activity through an unknown **informant**, not a first-person victim of a crime. R. pp. 42, 49-50. In fact, Appellant's brief and his pleadings throughout this case refer to the victim as an informant. As the prior Courts that have addressed this matter in the criminal prosecution, the Federal civil case, and the instant decision from the Circuit Court have noted, the statements used to establish probable cause were made by the victim, not an anonymous informant. Therefore, the *Gates* case is wholly inapplicable to the instant litigation.

In fact, Appellant fails to cite to any case that requires a crime victim's statements to be corroborated prior to meeting the threshold of probable cause. This failure is axiomatic given that the best evidence in criminal prosecutions typically comes from the victim of the crime. *See* Note 2, *supra*. Further, the South Carolina legislature has recognized that victims of sexual crimes need not have corroborative physical evidence in order to form sufficient probable cause for an arrest. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-657.

² Appellant made the same exact arguments before the Federal Court. Judge Gergel's order of March 28, 2012, and Judge Gossett's preceding Report and Recommendation, correctly notes that the use of *Gates* is misplaced and cites to extensive case law establishing that the crime victim's statements are sufficient to establish probable cause. *McKinney v. Richland County Sheriff's Dept.*, 431 F.3d 415, 418 (4th Cir. 2005); *Torchinsky v. Siwinski*, 942 F.2d 257, 262 (4th Cir. 1991); *Beauchamp v. City of Noblesville, Inc.*, 320 F.3d 733, 743 (7th Cir. 2005); *Gramenos v. Jewel Companies, Inc.*, 797 F.2d 432, 439 (7th Cir. 1986); *Singer v. Fulton County Sheriff*, 63 F.3d 110, 119 (2d Cir. 1995); *Maron v. County of Albany*, 166 Fed. Appx. 540, 542 (2d Cir. 2006); *Koester v. Lanfranchi*, 288 Fed. Appx. 764, 766 (2d Cir. 2008).

II. The Circuit Court correctly held that Appellant's claim of malicious prosecution were precluded by the prior judicial findings that probable cause existed for Appellant's arrest.

Circuit Court Judge Doyet A. Early, III, granted Respondent Cain's motion for summary judgment on multiple grounds. In addition to making an independent finding of probable cause for Appellant's arrest, Judge Early correctly found that multiple prior judicial determinations of the probable cause issue acted as a bar to the current litigation.

"Collateral estoppel, also known as issue preclusion, prevents a party from relitigating an issue that was decided in a previous action, regardless of whether the claims in the first and subsequent lawsuits are the same." *Carolina Renewal Inc., v. S.C. Dept. of Transportation*, 684 S.E.2d 779, 782 385 S.C. 550 (Ct. App. 2009), *citing Judy v. Judy*, 383 S.C. 1, 7, 677 S.E.2d 213, 217 (Ct.App.2009). "The party asserting collateral estoppel must demonstrate that the issue in the present lawsuit was: (1) actually litigated in the prior action; (2) directly determined in the prior action; and (3) necessary to support the prior judgment." *Carolina Renewal, supra* citing *Beall v. Doe*, 281 S.C. 363, 369 n. 1, 315 S.E.2d 186, 189-90 n. 1 (Ct.App.1984).

As discussed herein, the record in this matter demonstrates that probable cause was established as a matter of law when Aiken County Magistrate Judge Sullivan issued the arrest warrants and search warrant. Probable cause was again determined during Appellant's contested preliminary hearing before Magistrate Judge Lynn on October 11, 2006. This issue was again decided when Appellant requested and received a second preliminary hearing on November 28, 2007 wherein his criminal defense counsel again moved to dismiss the charges based on a lack of

probable cause. Judge Lynn again denied the motion and found sufficient probable cause to bind the case over for the Grand Jury.

The probable cause issue was again decided against Appellant in this civil suit in the Federal Court. After extensive discovery and submission of memoranda and exhibits by both Respondent Cain and Appellant, United States District Court Magistrate Judge Paige J. Gossett found sufficient probable cause for Appellant's arrest. R. p. 40. United States District Court Judge Gergel then held a hearing on the pending summary judgment motions. At that hearing, after extensive oral argument by counsel for both Appellant and Respondent, Judge Gergel again made a judicial determination that probable cause existed as a matter of law for Appellant's arrest and granted summary judgment dismissing all of Appellant's federal claims, including § 1983 claims for malicious prosecution. R. pp. 21-31. Review of the Order shows that Judge Gergel found "that [Respondent] Cain had probable cause for the arrest of [Appellant] based upon the multiple consistent written and oral statements of the alleged victim and the corroborating statement of the neighbor." See *Ferrara v. Hunt, et al.*, C/A # 0:09-cv-02112-RMG, Entry No. 166. R. p. 28. In sum, there were five judicial determinations of probable cause for Appellant's arrest by four different judicial officers. Importantly, four of these five judicial determinations were in contested proceedings where Appellant's counsel argued against the existence of probable cause and lost.

It is clear from the record in this case that not only did probable cause exist for Appellant's arrest, but he has repeatedly litigated this specific issue in multiple courts and has lost each time. As discussed *supra*, the probable cause issue is critical to Appellant's sole claim of malicious prosecution against Respondent Cain. Without proof of the absence of probable

cause, Appellant's claim fails as a matter of law. Because Judge Early correctly held this specific element was previously actually litigated, directly determined, and necessary to support the prior decisions he was correct in granting summary judgment to Respondent Cain on the malicious prosecution claim.

III. Appellant's argument that Judge Gergel's order was in any way inconsistent is patently misplaced and must be rejected by this Court.

Judge Early correctly held that Judge Gergel's prior order in Federal Court found probable cause as a matter of law. There are no inconsistencies in the Order and Appellant's arguments to the contrary are both misplaced and illogical and should be rejected by this Court.

Appellant's brief attempts to argue Judge Gergel's Order was inconsistent in its findings. The argument appears to be based upon the Federal Court's discretionary decision regarding its exercise of supplemental jurisdiction. As noted by Judge Gergel within the Order, Federal Courts are granted wide discretion in exercising supplemental jurisdiction over State law claims. After finding probable cause and dismissing all of the Federal causes of action against both Respondent Cain and Sheriff Hunt, Judge Gergel opted to not address the State law claims and remanded them back to the Aiken County Court of Common Pleas. There is nothing inconsistent about the Order. Judge Gergel addressed all of the Federal causes of action, including Appellant's claim of malicious prosecution pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and found that probable cause existed for Appellant's arrest. The probable cause standard is the same in both State and Federal jurisprudence. The difference is that Judge Gergel, sitting as a United States District Court judge, is not required to address the claims arising under State law. R. pp. 419-20.

Nor is this an issue of first impression for this Court to address. As discussed herein, there is no inconsistency in Judge Gergel's Order and arguments to the contrary are at the least misleading. Appellant's comparison to the law of contracts is at the least misguided. There is no comparison to the procedural issues at bar and the law of contracts, or the Uniform Commercial Code. Judge Gergel's Order granting summary judgment clearly and unequivocally found probable cause for Appellant's arrest. Judge Gergel's Order also clearly and unequivocally dismissed all of Appellant's federal causes of action. Judge Gergel then exercised his discretion to not address or comment on the State law claim of malicious prosecution against Respondent Cain. There is nothing inconsistent about Judge Gergel's decision. Furthermore, Appellant did not either move the Federal Court to reconsider its Order or file an appeal.

IV. The Circuit Court correctly held that Appellant's malicious prosecution claim against Respondent Cain was barred by the provisions of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act where he was a governmental employee acting within the course and scope of his employment and no evidence of malice existed in the record.

An additional ground for Judge Early's grant of summary judgment to Respondent Cain was the provision of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act providing immunity to a governmental employee acting within the course and scope of his employment. S.C. Code Ann., § 15-78-70. Judge Early correctly found that Respondent Cain was acting within the course and scope of his employment and that there was no evidence to show that he was acting with actual fraud, actual malice, intent to harm, or a crime involving moral turpitude such as to remove this individual cloak of immunity.

Appellant's brief argues in very conclusory manner that there are "ample facts in the record that support a finding of actual malice on the part of Respondent Cain." However, Respondent fails to identify any of these alleged facts or show how they somehow demonstrate actual malice. Instead, the record shows that Appellant's claims of malice are unsupported by anything but his own personal supposition, conjecture and speculation. Appellant's deposition testimony failed to produce any actual evidence of malice other than his supposition based upon his arrest. R. p. 1059.

V. The Appellant's appeal is not timely where the record demonstrates the Order was provided to Appellant's counsel more than thirty days prior to the filing of this appeal.

Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR, provides "A notice of appeal shall be served on all respondents within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice of entry of the order or judgment." Without a timely notice of appeal, this Court lacks jurisdiction and may not hear the appeal. "The requirement of service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, i.e., if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to 'rescue' the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice."

Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., 602 S.E.2d 772, 361 S.C. 9 (S.C. 2004).

Any notice in writing which would convey to a losing party that judgment has been entered [i]s sufficient. A person who knows of a thing has notice thereof. Stated differently, [n]o one needs notice of what he already knows. Actual notice is synonymous with knowledge. Notice is regarded as actual where the person sought to be charged therewith either knows of the existence of the particular facts in question or is conscious of having the means of knowing it, even though such means may not be employed by him.

Upchurch v. Upchurch, 597 S.E.2d 819, 359 S.C. 254 (S.C.App. 2004), (internal quotations removed) quoting *Rosen, Rosen & Hagood v. Hiller*, 307 S.C. 331, 335, 415 S.E.2d 117, 119 (Ct.App.1992); *Hannah v. United Refrigerated Servs.*, 312 S.C. 42, 47, 430 S.E.2d 539, 541 (Ct.App.1993); *Strother v. Lexington County Recreation Comm'n*, 332 S.C. 54, 63 n. 6, 504 S.E. 2d 117, 122 n. 6 (1998).

In this case, the Order granting Respondent Cain's motion for summary judgment was entered by the Court on May 16, 2013. The record demonstrates that the Aiken County Clerk of Court mailed a copy of that Order to all counsel of record on May 16, 2013. Further, Judge Early's law clerk, Adam C. Ness, emailed all counsel of record on May 16, 2013 notifying counsel of the execution of the Order and its pending transmittal to the Clerk of Court on the same date. Judge Early's law clerk again emailed all counsel of record on May 17, 2013 advising that "[a]n order regarding Defendant Cain was filed yesterday with the Aiken County Clerk's office, for the above-referenced case. Please let me know if anyone has any questions." Appellant's counsel did not file the notice of appeal with this Court until August 26, 2013. Appellant's notice claims that he did not receive written notice of the entry of the order until August 20, 2013.

Appellant's notice is untimely. The record in this case demonstrates that Appellant's counsel was served by the Aiken County Clerk of Court with the Order on May 16, 2013 by transmitting the Order via U.S. Mail. It is also clear that Judge Early's law clerk emailed all counsel of record at their respective email addresses and notified them of the actual execution of the Order, the pending entry of the Order, and the actual entry of the Order in two separate emails. Clearly, Appellant's counsel had actual notice of the execution and entry of the Order.

Even if Appellant's counsel claims that he did not receive the actual paper order until August 20, 2013, he was on notice of the execution and entry of the Order on May 16 and May 17, 2013. Appellant has not offered any justification, excuse, or affidavit to explain how ninety-six (96) days elapsed from the time counsel was notified of the execution and entry of the Order until he received the Order. Appellant also did not file a Rule 59 motion, or any other motion, in the Circuit Court to stay the running of the time for his notice of appeal. Since Appellant's notice of appeal is clearly untimely, this Court lacks jurisdiction to hear it and must dismiss the case as untimely.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussion and analysis, Respondent Charles Cain respectfully requests that this Court affirm the order of Circuit Court Judge Doyet A. Early, III granting summary judgment to Respondent Cain on the malicious prosecution claim.